## **INFORMATION TO USERS**

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



# **NOTE TO USERS**

This reproduction is the best copy available.

UMÍ

## Sexual Dimorphism in the Corpus Callosum: Methodological Considerations in MRI Morphometry

Patrick Bernudez & Robert J. Zatorre McGill University, Montréal February, 2001

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science.

© Patrick Bermudez, 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your life Value rélérance

Our Be Nose nilérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-70384-3

## Canadä

## Table of Contents:

Abstract	1
Abrégé	2
Introduction	3
Sampling	4
Measurement	5
Normalization	7
Methods	10
Subjects	10
Image acquisition and processing	10
Area and volume determinations	11
Analyses	12
Statistical Probability Anatomy Maps (SPAMs)	13
Results	13
Descriptives	13
Native vs Stereotaxic space	14
Ratio method	14
Covariate method	15
Probability Maps	16
Discussion	16
References	22
Acknowledgements	30
Captions	31
Table 1	32
Table 2	33
Table 3	34
Table 4	35
Figure 1	36
Figure 2	37
Figure 3	38





### Contributions of authors to the published or submitted manuscript

McGill University requires an explicit statement be made concerning the contributions of each author in the case of manuscript-based submissions. This M.Sc. thesis is comprised of a single manuscript co-authored by Patrick Bermudez and Robert J. Zatorre. The second author's contributions were in criticizing and proofing manuscript drafts in addition to some conceptual direction in the design stages of the work. All other work was carried out by the first author.

Studies of sexual dimorphism in the corpus callosum (CC) have employed a variety of methodologies for measurement and normalization but have yielded disparate results. The present work demonstrates how in some cases different manipulations of the same raw data, corresponding to different commonly used methodologies, produce discordant results. Midsagittal CC area was measured from magnetic resonance images (MRIs) of 137 young normal volunteers. Three strategies intended to normalize for average differences in brain size between the sexes, as well as five different normalization variables, were contrasted and evaluated. The stereotaxic method normalizes for inter-subject differences in overall brain size by scaling MRIs into a standardized space. The ratio method uses one of five different indices of brain size and divides it into CC area. The covariate method uses one of these indices as a covariate in statistical analyses. Male subjects show significantly larger absolute total area, as well as anterior third and posterior midbody. However, in 2 of 3 normalization strategies. namely the stereotaxic and ratio methods, females show relatively larger total area. anterior midbody and splenium. The covariate method did not show any significant differences at the .05 level. Results suggest that different approaches to normalization and analysis are not necessarily equivalent and interchangeable.

1

#### Abrégé

Une variété de méthologies pour effectuer des mesures et normalisations spatiales ont été utilisées dans des études de dimorphisme sexuel du corps calleux (CC). Celles-ci ont cependant généré des résultats très disparates. La présente étude a pour but de démontrer de quelle façon, dans certains cas, différentes manipulations typiques des mêmes scores bruts produisent des résultats discordant. La région mi-sagittale du corps calleux a été mesurée à partir d'images par résonnance magnétique (IRM) sur 137 jeunes normaux volontaires. Trois stratégies, visant à normaliser les différences au niveau de la grosseur des cerveaux entre les sujets, ainsi que cinq différentes variables de normalisation, ont été comparées et évaluées. La méthode stéréotaxique échelonne I'IRM de chaque sujet dans un espace standardisé. La méthode de ratio utilise un des cinq différents indices de la grosseur du cerveau et le divise en région du CC. La méthode de co-variable utilise un de ces indices dans une analyse statistique de covariable. Les sujets mâles démontrent une région absolue totale, troisième antérieure et mi-corps postérieure du CC significativement plus large. Cependant, dans 2 des 3 stratégies de normalisation, plus spécifiquement les méthodes de stéréotaxie et de ratio, les sujets femelles ont démontré une région totale, mi-corps antérieure et splénium relativement plus large. La méthode de co-variable n'a pas démontré de différences significative au niveau de .05. Les résultats suggèrent donc que différentes approches d'analyse et de normalisation ne sont pas nécessairement équivalentes et interchangeables.

#### Introduction

The corpus callosum (CC) has been the focus of intense research and debate in the last decades, especially in what concerns putative relationships between its morphology and various aspects of cerebral function. Its functional importance as the main interhemispheric commissure of the human brain has been well established (Sperry, 1968) and continues to be elucidated (e.g. Clarke & Zaidel, 1994). More recently, though, began speculation that the CC might show global and local morphological trends in populations of interest, many of them showing particular pathology such as schizophrenia (Lewine *et al.*, 1991: DeLisi *et al.*, 1995; David, 1992), dyslexia (Filipek, 1995; Hynd *et al.*, 1995) and Alzheimer's disease (Hampel *et al.*, 1998). Some of the more contentious findings have been not in pathological populations, but rather concern claims for possible sexual dimorphism in the CC of the normal population as a cerebral correlate to sex-related differences in functional lateralization (DeLisi *et al.*, 1989; Peters, 1988; Kertesz *et al.*, 1987).

de Lacoste-Utamsing and Holloway (1982) were the first to present *post mortem* findings suggesting morphological sex differences in the human CC. They found splenial width and area to be absolutely larger in females and total area larger relative to brain size in females. Their pattern of results, however, especially in what concerns differences in absolute measures, have rarely been replicated (Holloway *et al.*, 1993; Holloway & de Lacoste, 1986; Clarke *et al.*, 1989; Allen *et al.*, 1991). Even the direction of non-significant absolute size differences in the CC is not consistent, with some studies

3

showing larger measures in males (e.g. Witelson, 1985; Kertesz *et al.*, 1987; Demeter *et al.*, 1988), others in females (e.g. Holloway & deLacoste, 1986; Byne *et al.*, 1988; Deneberg *et al.*, 1991). What is more often found are relatively larger female callosal measures, that is, measures where an index of overall brain size has been used to normalize for an average sex difference in brain size. Despite this, reported differences are not consistent either in magnitude, statistical significance or location within the CC (Holloway *et al.*, 1993).

This particular area of investigation, it can safely be said, is still very contentious and confused, due in large part to inconsistent methodology (Holloway *et al.*, 1993; Allen *et al.*, 1991). As have done Constant and Ruther (1996), we can nonetheless glean a few broad categories of methodological difficulties. We shall discuss three: sampling, measurement and normalization.

#### Sampling

One important problem in corpus callosum work undertaken thus far. almost certainly contributing to the disparity of results. is the heterogeneity of most subject samples, be they from *post mortem* or *in vivo* studies. Subjects are often selected for little more than being free of neurological pathology, usually as would be macroscopically obvious from the visual inspection of a brain tissue specimen (e.g. Holloway & deLacoste, 1986) or magnetic resonance (MR) images (e.g. Allen *et al.*, 1991). In other words, they are often unselected for either age or handedness, both of which are

suspected as possible confounds, the first because there are changes in brain size with age that are not especially well understood (including possible age by sex interactions: Witelson, 1989; Allen *et al.*, 1991), the second because of its suspected relationship to cerebral asymmetry and, in turn, CC size (Ratcliff *et al.*, 1980; Steinmetz *et al.*, 1991; Witelson, 1989).

This being the case, and given the natural anatomical variability that exists in the human brain (Collins & Evans, 1997). it is imperative that as homogenous a sample as possible be established for the examination of possible sexual dimorphism. Related to the above, of course, is sample size. From the studies conducted thus far, it would seem that the putative sex differences are not robust and that, even under the best of conditions. fairly large sample sizes are needed if any effect of sex is to be revealed. Most *post mortem* studies have dealt with very small samples (e.g. de Lacoste & Holloway, 1982, n = 14: Holloway & de Lacoste, 1986, n = 16) and even *in vivo* studies typically have relatively small numbers once subgroups of interest have been created from a larger total sample (Steinmetz *et al.*, 1995; Kertesz *et al.*, 1987).

#### Measurement

The methodology of typical *post mortem* CC studies has the advantages of being able to measure the structure directly, which allows for unambiguous delineation of the midsagittal CC area, and being able to take a brain weight or cranial capacity, often used for purposes of normalization for overall brain size differences. The disadvantages, though, are many. For example, upon death there is swelling in some areas due to the absorption of cerebral spinal fluid (Appel & Appel, 1942) and generalized shrinkage due to cell death (Rauch & Jinkins 1994), each with its own course, and death to fixation times vary within and between studies. Also, there are difficulties associated with fixation agents. Formalin fixation is thought to cause brain tissue to fluctuate in weight by no more than 5% (Witelson & Goldsmith, 1991) but this effect varies with time and it is not known whether it is uniform between brains and throughout different tissues or different cytoarchitectonic areas of the same tissue (Constant & Ruther, 1996).

Studies making use of *in vivo* magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have also been technically limited in a number of ways. Although they avoid many of the difficulties particular to *post mortem* studies, they must contend with others such as partial volume effects and limited image resolution which make difficult the unambiguous delineation of the CC (Clarke & Zaidel, 1994; Constant & Ruther 1996). Peters *et al.* (2000) have shown how these difficulties can impact estimates of volume and area. Many have obtained measurements by digitizing images from MRI hard copies and then delineating the CC with the help of software, or have photographed hard copies to slides for projection and tracing (e.g. Clarke & Zaidel, 1994; Kertesz *et al.*, 1987; Constant & Ruther, 1996; Moffat *et al.*, 1998). There are several points in these methods which are susceptible to error, all of which contribute to reducing signal strength. Other studies that have delineated the CC from the reconstructed MR image still in digital form have relied on very basic and limited software provided with the MR scanner (e.g. Rauch & Jinkins, 1994). None seem to have used real-time verification of contiguous sagittal slices to

either side of midsagittal to disambiguate confusion due to non-callosal structures (such as that due to fornix and septum pellucidum visual encroachment onto the CC), image artifacts and partial volume effects.

A problem experienced in both *post mortem* and *in vivo* studies is that of assuring consistent orientation of a specimen in the plane of measurement. In the vast majority of studies, any efforts applied to ensuring orthogonal alignment of structures of interest to the plane of measurement have been entirely manual and subjective. It has been shown by Rauch and Jinkins (1996) how this can indeed be of critical importance.

#### Normalization

One aspect of CC research that has surely been a source of conceptual confusion and contributed to inconsistent results and interpretation is that of normalization or standardization for overall brain size. Seeing as the focus on sexual dimorphism in the CC has been for the most part about the size of the structure rather than its shape, and because, on average, male brains are larger than female brains, brain size is the first and most evident confound one must deal with when examining sex differences. Yet it seems that most studies reporting on sexual dimorphism have not attempted to normalize for overall brain size, sometimes citing low correlations between the normalization variable (such as brain volume) and CC area (e.g. Deneberg *et al.*, 1991; Demeter *et al.*, 1988). When normalization has been applied, strategies have included using any of a number of different indices of brain size (such as brain weight, forebrain volume, cranial capacity or cross-sectional cerebral area) in a couple of different ways, such as in the creation of simple ratios, where one of these is divided into CC area (e.g. Jäncke *et al.*, 1997), or as covariates in covariate corrected statistics (e.g. Witelson, 1985). Apart from interpretive difficulties associated with ratios of various sorts, it is still in question whether or not any of these indices are reliably correlated to CC size, seeing as correlational results have varied from r = .022 (Kertesz *et al.*, 1987) to r = .51 (Witelson, 1985). If the relationship between CC size and overall brain size were unreliable then, indeed, there would be no need to normalize. Minimally, we would be introducing an unnecessary amount of noise into our measurements by using poorly correlated variables for the purposes of normalization.

Let us discuss one additional difficulty encountered when using a volume to normalize for brain size differences. It is a problem that has been recognized for some time now (Holloway & de Lacoste, 1986) and was alluded to in a more quantitative way by Jäncke *et al.* (1997). It centers on the non-isometric, geometric relationship between an area and a volume. Indices derived for purposes of CC size comparison between the sexes often divide CC area or subarea (2-dimensional) by a forebrain volume, brain weight or cranial capacity (3-dimensional). Because of the incommensurate increase in the volume of an object over the cross-sectional area of that object, the value of this ratio is reduced disproportionately as head size increases, regardless of sex. Seeing as most larger headed individuals will be male, and assuming a reasonably good correlation between CC midsagittal area and brain size, there exists the risk of introducing a systematic bias in favour of the smaller headed females. In an attempt to correct for the area/volume relationship. some studies have raised the volume measurement to the power of 2/3 (e.g. Holloway & de Lacoste, 1986; Holloway *et al.*, 1993). Barring this correction, the only way to avoid this basic geometric problem when using a ratio strategy is to have the normalization variable also be 2-dimensional, in other words, an area (such as a sagittal cerebral area).

Inferences of possible functional significance for gross anatomical differences that may be observed in the CC must be predicated upon consistent and valid morphometry and analysis. That lack of true replication and convergence in the CC sexual dimorphism literature has made it difficult to ascertain progress towards this goal. This study had three primary objectives: the first was to present novel methods for the inspection of possible sexual dimorphism, methods that introduce less variability and are free of some important interpretive difficulties encountered with more common The second was to replicate some of the most popular approaches approaches. undertaken in the CC sexual dimorphism literature under rigorous and homogenous conditions so as to evaluate their validity and utility, and perhaps provide perspective on existing findings. The third was to create a probabilistic map of the CC. Briefly, we obtained both native (absolute) and stereotaxic midsagittal areas for the corpus callosum as well as native forebrain volumes and areas in a large group of normal subjects. Measures from the native MRI space, which preserve absolute differences in size between subjects, allow us to compare to existing literature and assess some of its strengths and weaknesses. In contrast, stereotaxic measures, collected from MRIs registered into a standardized space, allow for direct comparison of CC areas between the

9

sexes without the need for circuitous normalization strategies. Given the present, slight preponderance of evidence in the literature, it was expected that females would show a larger relative corpus callosum size, at least for the posterior fifth of the structure (splenium).

#### Methods

#### **Subjects**

Subjects were 137 young, normal volunteers (78 male, 59 female, averaging 24.6 years of age  $\pm$  4.8 SD) whose MRIs were acquired as part of the International Consortium for Brain Mapping (ICBM) project. They were right-handed as determined by a handedness questionnaire.

#### Image acquisition and processing

The MRI data sets were comprised of one T1 weighted (TR = 18ms, TE = 10ms, 1 x 1 x 1 mm voxels), two T2 weighted (TR = 3.3s, TE = 120 ms, 1 x 1 mm in plane, 2 mm thick slices, 1 mm offset) and two proton density images (TR = 3.3s, TE = 34 ms, 1 x 1 mm in plane, 2 mm thick, 1 mm offset). Images were registered to each other and to a Talairach-like stereotaxic space during an algorithmic, 9-parameter registration process (Collins *et al.*, 1994), resampled to 181 x 217 x 181 slices at 1 x 1 x 1 mm resolution and non-uniformity corrected (Sled *et al.*, 1998). Tissue classified images, where every voxel

10

of a volume is classified into one of 4 categories (outside the head, cerebral spinal fluid, grey matter, white matter), were created by an artificial neural network classifier using the 3 scan types and a 170 point training set as input (50 points for each of CSF, grey matter and white matter, and 20 points for background: Zijdenbos *et al.*, 1996; Kollokian, 1996; Zijdenbos *et al.*, 1998).

#### Area and volume determinations

The CC was segmented manually from T1 images with the use of Display (MacDonald *et al.*, 1994), a 3-D interactive image viewing and segmentation application running on SGI workstations. Native space or absolute values were obtained by reversing the appropriate dimensions of scaling recovered during the stereotaxic transformation. A MATLAB (Mathworks Inc., Sherborn, MA) algorithm was used to obtain CC subarea measurements according to Witelson-like criteria (Witelson, 1989: Figure 3). Inter-rater reliability for CC labeling of 32 subjects was r = .95.

Native forebrain volume (FBV) was obtained from tissue classified volumes by counting grey and white matter 1 mm<sup>3</sup> voxels in the forebrain. forebrain being defined as all grey and white matter excluding the cerebellum and all structures below the thalamus. As in the case of native CC areas, native values were obtained by reversing the scaling applied during the stereotaxic transformation. Sagittal, coronal and horizontal cerebral areas were obtained in a similar manner from single slices at stereotaxic Talairach

coordinates (Talairach & Tournoux, 1988) x = -10 and x = 10 (left and right slices averaged), y = -20 and z = 15, respectively.

#### Analyses.

We intended to contrast and evaluate 3 different normalization strategies, each purporting to remove the variance associated with gross inter-subject differences in brain size. These will be referred to as the stereotaxic method, the ratio method and the covariate method. The first involves applying 3 scaling factors, one for each spatial dimension, to each MRI volume during a linear. 9 parameter registration into a standardized stereotaxic space (Collins *et al.*, 1994). The stereotaxic CC areas collected in this method can simply be submitted to analysis of variance without further manipulation. The second method divides a normalization variable (an index of brain size, either native FBV, FBV<sup>2/3</sup>, sagittal area, coronal area or horizontal area) into native CC areas to create ratios intended to reflect the relative relationship of CC area to brain size. These ratios are then submitted to analysis of variance. The last method uses one of the aforementioned indices of overall brain size as a covariate in covariate statistical analyses of native CC areas. To summarize then, we are contrasting 3 different normalization methods and 5 different indices of brain size for use in the ratio and covariate methods.

Statistical Probability Anatomy Maps (SPAMs)

The stereotaxic CC label volumes were averaged so that for each x, y, z coordinate there exists a value ranging from 0 to 1 describing the probability of there being CC at that particular location for this collection of data sets (Penhune *et al.*, 1996). This sort of voxel-by-voxel average of the same structure label over a number of subjects has several uses. including offering a highly graphical, probabilistic description of shape, location and size in a group of subjects.

#### Results

#### Descriptives

The average forebrain volume for females was 956980.6 mm<sup>3</sup> (87661.2 SD) and 1105347.5 mm<sup>3</sup> (88357.9 SD) for males (F = 95.4, p < .001). FBV was significantly correlated with total CC area for the group (r = .457, p < .001, n = 137). However, it would seem that FBV accounts for a significantly larger proportion of the variance in females (n = 59,  $r^2 = .398$ , p < .001: Figure 1a) than it does in males (n = 78,  $r^2 = .086$ , p = .009; Figure 1b), with a Fisher (Z) = 2.50 (p < .01). Correlations of total callosal area to FBV and other indices of brain size are presented in Table 1.

#### Figure 1 here

Native vs Stereotaxic space

When native space (absolute) CC area is compared between the sexes, the total and all subareas are larger in males with the total (F = 7.29, p = .008), anterior third (F = 11.36, p = .001) and posterior midbody (F = 4.95, p = .028) reaching significance (Figure 2a and Table 2). Absolute differences in the anterior midbody, isthmus and splenium were all non-significant (p > .1). CC areas from the stereotaxic space show a complete reversal of trend with all areas being larger in females and the total (F = 6.16, p = .014), anterior midbody (F = 7.36, p = .008) and splenium (F = 9.89, p = .006) reaching significance (Figure 2b and Table 2). Stereotaxic differences in the anterior third, posterior midbody and isthmus were non-significant (p > .1).

Figure 2 here

#### Table 2 here

#### Ratio method

Ratios created by dividing the native CC area by  $FBV^{2/3}$ , sagittal area, coronal area and horizontal area all yielded similar patterns of results to those of the stereotaxic space, with varying levels of significance (see Table 3). The ratio created by dividing CC

area by FBV, on the other hand, showed significantly larger values in the females for total and all subareas (Table 3). Correlations of the various CC ratios to their denominators are all negative and significant for the group at p < .01 (Table 4).

Table 3 here

#### Table 4 here

#### Covariate method

For none of the indices of brain size submitted as covariates (either FBV, FBV<sup>2/3</sup>, sagittal area, coronal area or horizontal area) were any of the CC areas significantly different between the sexes. Callosal subsections show a pattern similar to the other methods when either FBV or FBV<sup>2/3</sup> is used as a covariate in that both the anterior midbody and splenium approach significance (none better than p = .06). For the other indices of brain size, the pattern of results evident in the other methods breaks down completely. The assumption of homogeneity of regression slopes between the sexes necessary for covariate analysis is violated in the case of the regression of coronal area onto total CC area. Therefore, strictly speaking, we could not proceed with this type of analysis for this variable.

The map for the group as a whole shows that the location, size and shape of the CC is highly variable, although less so than cortical structures such as Heschl's gyrus and the Planum Temporale (Penhune *et al.*, 1996: Westbury *et al.*, 1999). Visual inspection of Figure 3 reveals that few areas reach p = 1. For instance, approximately 17% of voxels in the map lie between 90 and 100% probability. Differences between the sexes are evident from the subtractions of the male SPAM from the female SPAM and vice-versa, where each x, y, z coordinate in one map is subtracted from the same coordinate in the other. In particular, there is an apparent shift downwards in position of the splenium in males as compared to females.

#### Discussion

All three normalization methods contrasted in this study are purported to be conceptually equivalent in that they are intended to remove the variance in CC area measurements associated with global brain size which, given our significant correlations between FBV and CC area, we consider to be a real confound. Despite this, only 2 of 3 methods show concordant results. The stereotaxic and ratio methods yielded a similar pattern of results (with the exception of ratios created with FBV, most likely because of the geometric problem discussed in the introduction), but this pattern was not evident in the covariate method. Furthermore, we verified that in the case of coronal area used as a covariate it was inappropriate to proceed with such an analysis seeing as the assumption

of homogeneity of slopes had been violated. The principal results from the two methods that do concur are those of a larger anterior midbody and splenium, as well as total area, in females relative to brain size.

Even though FBV is highly significantly larger in males than in females, in addition to total CC area only two subsections of the CC are significantly resolved as absolutely larger in males in the native space. Therefore, as we might expect, once a normalization for overall brain size is applied, those subsections which are not significantly different in native space become significantly larger in females relative to brain size (with the exception of the isthmus, which is not different between the sexes either before or after normalization: Figure 2). We see this in both the stereotaxic and ratio methods.

Two admonitions stem from our work: first. in our data, using an uncorrected brain volume (FBV) to normalize for overall brain size in the ratio method clearly biased results, exaggerating the female advantage in relative CC size and suggesting that this approach may be misleading. Second, it may be that the relationship between CC area and brain size is somewhat divergent between the sexes, in which case one must take care to verify the homogeneity of slopes when intending to use an index of brain size as a normalization variable in an analysis of covariance. Most studies that have used the covariate method for removing variance associated with brain size have not reported separate trends for males and females. To our knowledge, only Jäncke *et al.* (1997) report a verification of this basic ANCOVA assumption and, as in the case of coronal area in this work, find that the linear trends are different between the sexes, thereby precluding traditional covariate analyses. Also, as brain size seems to be less relevant to CC size in males, we should consider that for any transformation applied to CC area values for the purposes of normalization, be it the application of scaling factors as in the stereotaxic method or the creation of a ratio with an index of brain size (e.g. FBV<sup>2/3</sup>) as in the ratio method, more irrelevant information is being introduced into the male sample than the female sample. In the case of covariate analysis, an average, compromise regression slope is being used to represent both sexes.

Despite the fact that the stereotaxic and ratio methods show essentially the same pattern of results. we believe the stereotaxic method to be superior for a number of reasons, among them: 1) the automated registration into stereotaxic space used here (Collins *et al.*, 1994), with its linear rescaling of volumes, is a more direct way of dealing with gross brain size differences. 2) the translation and rotation parameters of the registration ensure consistent orthogonal orientation of the specimen in the plane of measurement and specification of the midsagittal position (x = 0). 3) the error-prone and labour-intensive process of collecting an index of brain size is completely circumvented.

Differences between probability maps of the structure seem to indicate not only a larger female splenium, as reflected in the quantitative measurements, but also a difference in position between the sexes, where the male splenium seems to be inferiorly positioned as compared to the females. These findings agree with those of Oka *et al.* (1999). There is also evidence for the oft encountered description of greater 'bulbosity'

in the female CC (e.g. Allen *et al.*, 1991). Overall variability in shape, size and position of the CC is also evident in that high probability areas make up a relatively small area of the map, highlighting some limitations in the traditional quantification of this structure (Davatzikos *et al.*, 1996). Some studies have laboured to overcome these limitations by the use of deformation based methods which describe and account for local variations in shape (e.g. Davatzikos *et al.*, 1998; Thompson *et al.*, 1998). Methods are currently being developed in our lab to make use of the normative information provided by the statistical probability anatomy maps. They include overlaying the probability map on the stereotaxically registered MRI volumes of patients with incomplete callosotomies to estimate the location and quantity of remaining matter and the assessment of possible atrophy in the CC, symptomatic of certain disease states such as Alzheimer's disease (Hampel *et al.*, 1998).

It is clear that our work in no way speaks to function directly and we have sought only to make statements about structure. Let us nonetheless revisit the reasoning underlying the interest in macroscopic morphometry of the CC, for contextual and speculative purposes. Larger callosal areas are typically conjectured to be macroscopic morphological correlates to a lesser degree of lateralization for certain cognitive abilities in females as compared to males. This relative symmetry might then require greater interhemispheric transfer which would, in turn, evince itself as a larger number of callosal fibres or greater myelination of those fibres. The midsagittal CC area is taken as a convenient index of the number of fibres and/or thickness of myelination of these fibres and Aboitiz *et al.* (1992) have shown that midsagittal CC area is correlated to the number

of small diameter fibres (those of 3µm or less, thought to interconnect mainly higherorder cortices). Now, it may be that increasing the number of fibres coursing through the CC of more functionally symmetric brains is the most efficient way of dealing with demands for greater interconnectivity of the hemispheres and that this is what we are in effect observing. On the other hand, as suggested by Ringo et al. (1994), it may also be that beyond a certain point this 'strategy' becomes unfeasibly taxing, anatomically speaking, and that lateralization of function becomes a more viable solution for decreasing transmission times during time-critical neuronal computations. Our data show that all indices of brain size increase disproportionately to CC area (Table 4), including  $FBV^{2/3}$  which has been corrected for the geometric problem discussed in the introduction. Therefore, we agree with Jäncke et al. (1997) that there may be a simple head size confound in the CC sexual dimorphism issue, at least in our conceptualization of it, and this is in keeping with the hypothesis of Ringo et al. (1994) concerning the evolutionary pressures that might have driven lateralization of function in the brain. It posits that increasing transmission delay between the hemispheres as brain size increases, given a fixed conduction speed, may be the principal factor in the origin of hemispheric specialization.

In our sample, the 30 largest female brain volumes, with an average of 1021066.2 mm<sup>3</sup>, correlated to total CC area at r = .61, whereas the smallest 30 male brain volumes, with a nearly identical average of 1020545.0 mm<sup>3</sup>, only correlated with an r = .04. It does seem as though there is a sex difference in the relative importance of brain size to CC size that is separate from the influence of eventual adult brain size. This is in favour

20

of the position of Ringo and colleagues (1994) for a more abstracted, evolutionary level role for brain size. Brain size may become less relevant to CC size once a more significant degree of functional lateralization is in place, as it is said to be the case for males compared to females. A real sex difference in hemispheric specialization and relative callosal size in a sample like ours today would have had its origin as an evolutionary engineering problem related to overall brain size.

By virtue of the corpus callosum's role in the interhemispheric connection of cortical areas, morphological deviations from normal appear to serve as an index for the presence and progress of numerous neuropathological conditions. Developing a strong method for the quantitative and qualitative description of the CC, therefore, has wide ranging implications, not only in the greater endeavour of anatomical and functional characterization of the brain, but also in immediate applications of clinical relevance. As for the specific issue of sex differences, we believe that the present work provides strong evidence for localized differences in relative size and possibly shape and position of the CC between the sexes.

- Aboitiz, F., Scheibel, A.B., Fisher, R.S., & Zaidel, E. (1992a) Fiber composition of the human corpus callosum. *Brain Research*, 598, 143-153.
- Allen, L.S., Richey, M.F., Chai, Y.M. & Gorski, R.A. (1991) Sex differences in the corpus callosum of the living human being. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 11, 933-942.
- Appel, F.W. & Appel, E.M. (1942) Intracranial variation in the weight of the human brain. *Human Biology*, 14, 48-68.
- Byne, W., Bleier, R. & Houston, L. (1988) Variations in human corpus callosum do not predict gender: A study using magnetic resonance imaging. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 102, 222-227.
- Clarke, J.M. & Zaidel, E. (1994) Anatomical-behavioral relationships: corpus callosum morphometry and hemispheric specialization. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 64, 185-202.
- Clarke, S., Kraftsik, R., Van der Loos, H. & Innocenti, G.M. (1989) Forms and measures of adult and developing human corpus callosum: is there sexual dimorphism? *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 280, 213-230.

- Collins, D.L. & Evans, A.C. (1997) ANIMAL: validation and applications of nonlinear registration-based segmentation. International Journal of Pattern Recognition and Artificial Intelligence, 11, 1271-1294.
- Collins, D.L., Neelin, P., Peters, T.M. & Evans, A.C. (1994) Automatic 3D intersubject registration of MR volumetric data in standardized Talairach space. *Journal of Computer Assisted Tomography*, 281, 567-585.
- Constant, D. & Ruther, H. (1996) Sexual dimorphism in the human corpus callosum? A comparison of methodologies. *Brain Research*, 727, 99-106.
- Davatzikos, C. & Resnick, S.M. (1998) Sex differences in anatomic measures of interhemispheric connectivity: correlations with cognition in women but not in men. Cerebral Cortex, 8, 635-640.
- Davatzikos, C., Vaillant, M., Resnick, S.M., Prince, J.L., Letovsky, S. & Bryan, R.N. (1996) A computerized approach for morphological analysis of the corpus callosum. *Journal of Computer Assisted Tomography*, 20, 88-97.
- David. A.S. (1992) Schizophrenia and the corpus callosum: Developmental, structural and functional relationships. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 64, 203-211.

- de Lacoste-Utamsing, C. & Holloway, R.L. (1982) Sexual dimorphism in the human corpus callosum. *Science*, 216, 1431-1432.
- DeLisi, L., Dauphinais, I.D., Hauser, P. (1989) Gender differences in the brain: Are they relevant to the pathogenesis of schizophrenia? *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 30, 197-208.
- DeLisi, L.E., Tew, W., Xie, S. & Hoff, A.L. (1995) A prospective follow-up study of brain morphology and cognition in first-episode schizophrenic patients:
  Preliminary findings. *Biological Psychiatry*, 36, 349-360.
- Demeter, S., Ringo, J.L. & Doty, R.W. (1988) Morphometric analysis of the human corpus callosum and anterior commissure. *Human Neurobiology*, 6, 219-226.
- Deneberg, V.H., Kertesz, A. & Cowell, P.E. (1991) A factor analysis of the human's corpus callosum. *Brain Research*, 548, 126-132.
- Filipek, P.A. (1995) Neurobiologic correlates of developmental dyslexia: How do dyslexics' brains differ from those of normal readers? *Journal of Child Neurology*, 10, S62-S69.
- Hampel, H., Teipel, S.J., Alexander, G.E., Horwitz, B., Teichberg, D., Schapiro, M.B. & Rapoport, S.I. (1998) Corpus callosum atrophy is a possible indicator of region-

and cell type-specific neuronal degeneration in Alzheimer Disease. Archives of Neurology, 55, 193-198.

- Holloway, R.L., Anderson, P.J., Defendini, R. & Harper, C. (1993) Sexual dimorphism of the human corpus callosum from three independent samples: relative size of the corpus callosum. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, 92, 481-498.
- Holloway, R.L. & de Lacoste, M.C. (1986) Sexual dimorphism in the human corpus callosum: an extension and replication study. *Human Neurobiology*, 5, 87-91.
- Hynd, G.W., Hall, J., Novey, E.S. & Eliopulos, D. (1995) Dyslexia and corpus callosum morphology. Archives of Neurology, 52, 32-38.
- Jäncke, L., Staiger, J.F., Schlaug, G., Huang, Y. & Steinmetz, H. (1997) The relationship between corpus callosum size and forebrain volume. *Cerebral Cortex*, 7, 48-56.
- Kertesz, A., Polk, M., Howell, J. & Black, S.E. (1987) Cerebral dominance, sex. and callosal size in MRI. *Neurology*, 37, 1385-1388.

Kollokian, V., thesis, Concordia University, Montreal (1996).

Lewine, R., Flashman, L., Gulley, L. & Beardsley, S. (1991) Sexual dimorphism in corpus callosum and schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 4, 63-64.

- MacDonald, J.D., Avis, D. & Evans, A.C. (1994) Multiple surface identification and matching in magnetic resonance images. Proc Soc Vis Biomed Computing, 160-169.
- MacDonald, J.D., thesis. McGill University, A Method for Identifying Geometrically Simple Surfaces from Three Dimensional Images (1998).
- Moffat. S.D., Hampson, E. & Lee, D.H. (1998) Morphology of the planum temporale and corpus callosum in left handers with evidence of left and right hemisphere speech representation. *Brain*, 121, 2369-2379.
- Oka, S., Miyamoto, O., Janjua, N.A., Honjo-Fujiwara, N., Ohkawa, M., Nagao, S., Kondo, H., Minami, T., Toyoshima, T. & Itano, T. (1999) Re-evaluation of sexual dimorphism in human corpus callosum. *NeuroReport*, 10, 937-940.

Ozkan, M., Dawant, B.M., Maciunas, R.J., IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging, 12, 534 (1993).

Penhune, V.B., Zatorre, R.J., MacDonald, J.D. & Evans, A.C. (1996) Interhemispheric anatomical differences in human primary auditory cortex: Probabilistic mapping and volume measurement from MR scans. *Cerebral Cortex*, 6, 661-672.

- Peters. M. (1988) The size of the corpus callosum in males and females: Implications of a lack of allometry. *Canadian Journal of Psychology*, 42, 313-334.
- Peters, M., Jäncke, L. & Zilles, K. (2000) Comparison of overall brain volume and midsagittal corpus callosum surface area as obtained from NMR scans and direct anatomical measures: a within-subject study on autopsy brains. *Neuropsychologia*, 38, 1375-1381.
- Ratcliff, G., Dila, C., Taylor, L. & Milner, B. (1980) The morphological asymmetry of the hemispheres and cerebral dominance for speech: A possible relationship.
  *Brain & Language*, 11, 87-98.
- Rauch, R.A. & Jinkins, J.R. (1994) Analysis of cross-sectional area measurements of the corpus callosum adjusted for brain size in male and female subjects from childhood to adulthood. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 64, 65-78.
- Rauch R.A. & Jinkins J.R. (1996) Variability of corpus callosal area measurements from midsagittal MR images: effect of subject placement within the scanner. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 17, 27-8.
- Ringo, J.L., Doty, R.W., Demeter, S. & Simard, P.Y. (1994) Time is of the essence: a conjecture that hemispheric specialization arises from interhemispheric conduction delay. *Cerebral Cortex*, 4, 331-343.

- Sled, J.G., Zijdenbos, A.P. & Evans, A.C. (1998) A non-parametric method for automatic correction of intensity non-uniformity in MRI data. *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging*, vol. 17, pp. 87-97.
- Sperry. R.W. (1968). Hemisphere disconnection and unity in conscious awareness. *American Psychologist*. 23, 723-733.
- Steinmetz. H., Staiger, J.F., Schlaug, G., Huang, Y. & Jäncke, L. (1995) Corpus callosum and brain volume in women and men. *Neuroreport*, 6, 1002-1004.
- Steinmetz, H., Volkmann, J., Jäncke, L. & Freund, H-J. (1991) Anatomical left-right asymmetry of language-related temporal cortex is different in left and righthanders. *Annals of Neurology*, 29, 315-319.
- Talairach, J., Tournoux, P. (1988) Co-planar stereotactic atlas of the human brain: 3dimensional proportional system: an approach to cerebral imaging. Stuttgart: Georg Thieme Verlag, 1988.
- Thompson, P.M., Moussai, J., Zohoori, S., Goldkorn, A., Khan, A.A., Mega, M.S., Small, G.W., Cummings, J.L. & Toga, A.W. (1998) Cortical variability and asymmetry in normal aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Cerebral Cortex*, 8, 492-509.

- Westbury, C.F., Zatorre, R.J., & Evans, A.C. (1999) Quantifying variability in the planum temporale: A probability map. *Cerebral Cortex*, 9, 392-405.
- Witelson, S.F. (1985) The brain connection: The corpus callosum is larger in lefthanders. *Science*, 229, 665-668.
- Witelson, S.F. (1989) Hand and sex differences in the isthmus and genu of the human corpus callosum. *Brain*, 112, 799-835.
- Witelson S.F. & Goldsmith C.H. (1991) The relationship of hand preference to anatomy of the corpus callosum in men. *Brain Research*, 545, 175-82.
- Zijdenbos. A.P., Jimenez, A., Evans. A.C. Pipelines: Large scale automatic analysis of 3D brain data sets. NeuroImage. Vol. 7. Part 2, p.783, 1998.
- A. Zijdenbos *et al.*, Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Visualization in Biomedical Computing, K.H. Hohne and R. Kikinis, Eds. (Springer, Berlin, 1996), pp. 439-448.

<u>Acknowledgements</u>: We wish to thank Alan Evans, Louis Collins, Greg Ward, Jim Nikelski, Marc Bouffard, April Colosimo, Catherine Warrier, Rhonda Amsel and Peter Neelin for assistance, consultation and feedback. This work was supported by the MRC (Canada), the McDonnell-Pew Cognitive Neuroscience Center and the ICBM.

### **Captions:**

Table 1: Correlations of total CC area to brain size indices.

Table 2: Native and stereotaxic space areas in mm<sup>2</sup> (SD).

<u>Table 3</u>: Significance levels of sex differences for the different indices of brain size used in the ratio method.

Table 4: Correlation of CC ratios to their denominators.

Figure 1: Scattergrams showing the correlation between total CC area and FBV in a) females and b) males.

Figure 2: Differences between the sexes in callosal area expressed as a percentage of the grand mean (± standard error) in a) native space and b) stereotaxic space.

Figure 3: Statistical anatomical probability maps (SPAMs) of the corpus callosum. Probability values in the SPAMs for All Subjects. Females and Males range from 0 to 1. Values for the Female > Male and Male > Female SPAMs range from 0 to .278 and 0 to .298, respectively. A 30% thresholded group SPAM is used to illustrate the Witelsonlike subdivision criteria (Witelson, 1989).

## Table I

	FBV	FBV <sup>23</sup>	Sagittal Area	Coronal Area	Horizontal Area
All subjects (n = 137)	.457**	.460**	.534**	.297**	.312**
Females (n = 59)	.631**	.630**	.594**	.514**	.366**
Males $(n = 78)$	.293**	.296**	.446**	.025	.145

\* significant at the .05 level \*\* significant at the .01 level

Table	2
-------	---

	Total	Anterior Third	Anterior Midbody	Posterior Midbody	Isthmus	Splenium
Native measures						
Female $(n = 59)$	699.41	283.19	88.97	75.72	65.25	186.28
	(±67.61)	(±31.13)	(±11.01)	(=9.82)	(±11.84)	(±23.35)
Male (n = 78)	735.55	302.37	92.07	80.11	69.07	191.94
	(±84.33)	(±34.29)	(±12.33)	(±12.51)	(±14.48)	(±29.03)
Total (n = 137)	719.99	294.11	90.74	78.22	67.42	189.50
	(±79.36)	(±34.20)	(±11.84)	(±11.59)	(±13.49)	(±26.78)
Stereotaxic measures						
Female (n = 59)	886.98	359.11	112.77	96.12	82.81	236.18
	(±70.19)	(±34.29)	(±11.72)	(±11.95)	(±14.60)	(±25.81)
Male (n = 78)	851.97	350.25	106.69	92.83	80.00	222.20
	(=89.45)	(±36.76)	(±13.85)	(±14.25)	(±16.41)	(±30.90)
Total (n = 137)	867.05	354.07	109.31	94.25	81.21	228.22
	(±83.27)	(±35.86)	(±13.28)	(±13.36)	(±15.66)	(±29.55)

Table 1	3
---------	---

	Total	Anterior Third	Anterior Midbody	Posterior Midbody	Isthmus	Splenium
FBV	p < .001	p < .001	p < .001	p = 0.001	p = 0.011	p < .001
FBV <sup>23</sup>	p = 0.007	p = 0.091	p = 0.004	p = 0.111	p = 0.251	p = 0.003
Sagittal Area	p = 0.043	p = 0.331	p = 0.013	p = 0.238	p = 0.403	p = 0.016
Coronal Area	p = 0.054	p = 0.268	p = 0.024	p = 0.244	p = 0.385	p = 0.018
Horizontal Area	p = 0.017	p = 0.128	p = 0.006	p = 0.134	p = 0.264	p = 0.007

	FBV	FBV <sup>2'3</sup>	Sagittal area	Coronal area	Horizontal area
CC FBV	532**	-	-	-	-
CC/FBV <sup>23</sup>		226**	-	-	-
CC/Sagittal area			263**	-	-
CC/Coronal area				432**	-
CC Horizontal area					391**

\* significant at the .05 level \*\* significant at the .01 level









**Stereotaxic CC Area** 



\* significant at the .05 level \*\* significant at the .01 level